### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SONNY RAY JEFFRIES,	)	
Appellant,	)	
пренані,	)	
VS.	)	CASE NUMBER SC94,994
STATE OF FLORIDA,	)	
Appellee.	)	

# APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

### **INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

MICHAEL S. BECKER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0267082 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 252-3367

### COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

### **

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On October 18, 1993, the grand jury in and for Orange county returned an indictment charging appellant and Harry Thomas with one count of first degree murder in violation of Section 782.04, Florida Statutes (1993), one count of armed robbery in violation of Section 812.13(2)(a), Florida Statutes (1993) and one count of armed burglary of a dwelling in violation of Section 810.02(2)(b), Florida Statutes (1993). (Vol. XIV, R 763-765) Various motions were filed concerning appellant's competency to stand trial and after numerous psychiatric evaluations appellant was found incompetent to proceed to trial on July 19, 1994 (Vol. XIV, 858-884) and again on June 12, 1996. (Vol. XV, R 999-1003) On December 16,

1996, appellant filed a motion to suppress the seizure of his shoes on the grounds that they were seized pursuant to an illegal detention. (Vol. XV, R 1022-38) A hearing was conducted on the motion to suppress on January 27, 1997 before the Honorable Frank N. Kaney, circuit judge. (Supp. Vol. VI, R 62-86) At the hearing, the state stipulated that appellant's arrest and detention were illegal but that the seizure of the shoes should be upheld on the grounds of inevitable discovery. (Supp. Vol.VI, R 64) Following the hearing, the trial court denied the motion to suppress. (Supp. Vol.VI, R 84; Vol. XV, R 1039)

Appellant proceeded to jury trial on the charges on April 20-23, 1998 with the Honorable Robert Wattles, circuit court judge presiding. (Vols. 1-7,T 1-683) During jury selection, defense counsel objected to the state exercising a peremptory challenge to excuse an African-American juror. (Vol. I, T 331) After receiving a reason for the strike, the trial court found it to be a race-neutral reason and allowed it. (Vol. I, T 333) Prior to the jury being sworn, defense counsel renewed all prior motions and objections made toward any of the jurors. (Vol. I, T 338) When the state sought admission of the pair of Nike shoes taken from appellant, defense counsel objected to its admission based on the prior motion to suppress. (Vol. V, T 496) At the conclusion of all the evidence, the defense made a motion for a judgment of acquittal arguing that the evidence was purely

circumstantial and did not exclude every reasonable hypothesis of innocence. (Vol. V, T 538-541) Additionally, defense counsel argued that there was no evidence that a robbery was committed since it was never established when the items that appellant later pawned had been taken from the victim. (Vol. V, T 538-39) The trial court denied the motion for judgment of acquittal as well as the renewed motion for judgment of acquittal. (Vol. V, T 549-550, 553) Defense counsel objected to the trial court's giving of the instruction concerning the presumption arising from the proof of possession of recently stolen property on the grounds that there was no evidence as to when the property in appellant's possession had been stolen. (Vol. VI, T 583-586) The trial court agreed to give the instruction over the objection of defense counsel. (Vol. VI, T 586) During jury deliberations, the jury returned with a question asking "Was the time of death ever documented or put into evidence?". (Vol. VI, T 671) The trial court with agreement of counsel answered the question "No." (Vol. VI, T 671) Following deliberations, the jury returned verdicts finding appellant guilty as charged of first degree murder and robbery with a deadly weapon and not guilty as to armed burglary. (Vol. VII, T 673-674; Vol. XVII, R 1380-1382)

On August 28, 1998, Judge Wattles conducted a hearing to determine whether appellant was competent to represent himself in the penalty phase. (Vol.

VIII, R 193-266) Although Doctor Brad Fisher testified that he felt that appellant's schizophrenia could cloud his ability to choose whether he wanted to represent himself, the trial court found appellant competent to represent himself but appointed appellant's former lawyers Blankner and Marquez as standby counsel. (Vol. VIII, T 193-266; Vol. XVII R 1398)

The penalty phase of appellant's trial was conducted on September 8-9, 1998 before Judge Wattles. (Vol. X-XI, R 312-651) The trial court again questioned appellant as to his decision to represent himself and confirmed that appellant still desired to do so and found him competent. (Vol. X, R 317-345) The trial court considered appellant's pro se motions and denied a motion for new trial, a motion for judgment of acquittal and a motion for ineffective assistance of counsel which the trial court treated as a motion for a new trial. (Vol. X, T 324-326, 326-327, 328-332) The trial court also denied appellant's motion to continue the penalty phase on the grounds that he had only eleven days to prepare for the penalty phase and was only given access to the library 4 hours a day which he felt was unreasonable. (Vol. X, R 333-336) Finding that to be one of the disadvantages of self representation, the trial court denied the motion to continue. (Vol. X, R 336) During the penalty phase, the state presented no evidence other than the evidence which had been presented at the trial. (Vol. X, R 358) At the

circumstances of cold calculated and premeditated arguing that there was no evidence of heightened premeditation. (Vol. XI, R 579) The trial court overruled this objection. (Vol. XI, R 580) Defense counsel requested the instruction on the statutory mitigating factor that the defendant was under the influence of extreme mental emotional disturbance based on the evidence of his schizophrenia but the trial court denied this as being too broad and there being insufficient evidence of it. (Vol. XI, R 588) Defense counsel requested an instruction concerning the aggravating factor pecuniary gain which the trial court denied based on the fact that the defense had no law citations to support the instruction. (Vol. XI, R 591) Following deliberations, the jury returned a recommendation by a count of eleven to one that appellant be sentenced to death. (Vol. XI, R 642; Vol. XVII, R 1438)

A *Spencer* hearing was conducted by Judge Wattles on October 15, 1998. (Vol. XII, R 654-710) On January 22, 1999, appellant appeared before Judge Wattles for sentencing. (Vol. XIII, R 711-747) Judge Wattles found that two aggravating factors had been established beyond a reasonable doubt those being that the murder was committed in the course of a robbery and that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel. (Vol. XIII, R 722-726) However, the judge found that the factor of cold, calculated and premeditated had not been

proven beyond a reasonable doubt. (Vol. XIII, 727) Judge Wattles then discussed the mitigating factors that were suggested by defense and ultimately ruled that the aggravating factors outweighed the mitigation and imposed the death penalty for the murder count and a consecutive life sentence for the robbery conviction. (Vol. XIII, R 744; Vol. XVIII, R 1611-1613, 1599-1610)

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal on February 16, 1999. (Vol. XVIII, R 1622) Appellant was adjudged insolvent and the Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent him on appeal. (Vol. XVIII, R 1615)

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

### **MOTION TO SUPPRESS**

On January 27, 1997 a motion to suppress was conducted before the Honorable Frank N. Kaney at which the following facts were ascertained: The state stipulated that the defendant's arrest and detention in Georgia were illegal. (Supp. Vol. VI, R 64) Investigator Barbara Bergin had been investigating the murder of Wilma Martin. (Supp. Vol.VI, R 66) She had been in Ocala and gathered information concerning appellant which she was going to place into an affidavit to secure an arrest warrant the following day. (Supp. Vol. VI, R 67) Before she was able to do that, she received word that Harry Thomas had been detained in Georgia and was accompanied by a person who matched appellant's description. (Supp. Vol. VI, R 68) Bergin had intended to get a warrant anyway for appellant's arrest. (Supp. Vol. VI, R 68) After getting the warrant, Bergin would have entered it into the NCIC and alerted agencies in the areas where appellant was expected to travel. (Supp. Vol. VI, R 69) Bergin testified that appellant's shoes had become independently significant. (Supp. Vol. VI, R 70) She had obtained another pair of shoes belonging to appellant to compare the print found at the scene. (Supp. Vol. VI, R 70) When she was asked whether those prints matched, Bergin answered "they ran out the same shoes." (Supp. Vol. VI, R

70) Bergin admitted that had appellant been arrested in New Jersey without a warrant she still would have requested that the law officers there seize his shoes. (Supp. Vol. VI, R 70) Bergin admitted that some jurisdictions may in fact require a search warrant before the shoes could be seized. (Supp. Vol. VI, R 71) The date of Wilma Martin's death was August 22, 1993 and appellant was stopped in Georgia and had his shoes seized on September 10, 1993. (Supp. Vol. VI, R 71) Bergin felt that she would have obtained the shoes assuming that appellant was wearing them whenever he had been stopped. (Supp. Vol. VI, R 71) Bergin told the Georgia authorities that she wanted them to seize all of his clothing and shoes. (Supp. Vol. VI, R 72) Bergin was advised that appellant had been detained at approximately 1:30 a.m. but did not secure an arrest warrant for appellant until 1:30 p.m. the following day. (Supp. Vol. VI, R 73) Bergin admitted there were no active warrants for appellant in the meantime and that when she had been talking to the Marion County officers she had no idea where appellant was. (Supp. Vol. VI, R 75) She also had no description of what appellant was wearing. (Supp. Vol. VI, R 76) Bergin had been informed by New Jersey authorities that they had received information from appellant's fiancee that he had been washing clothes and that appellant was upset that she had not washed his black Nike tennis shoes. (Supp. Vol. VI, R 77) The town that appellant was ultimately stopped in in

Georgia, Richmond Hills, is just off I-95 on a possible route to New Jersey.

(Supp. Vol. VI, R 78) The trial court denied the motion to suppress on the grounds that the shoes would have been inevitably discovered. (Supp. Vol. VI, R 84)

#### TRIAL TESTIMONY

Kevin Jeffries, appellant's brother, lived in Orange County, Florida where he rented a house from Wilma Martin, the victim. (Vol. IV, T 378-380) Kevin testified that his girlfriend, Kelly, would pay the rent to Ms. Martin in cash. (Vol. IV, T 382) Wilma was like a mother to Kevin's children and she took care of Kevin. (Vol. IV, T 383) Others in Kevin's family may have met Wilma. (Vol. IV, T 383) In 1993, appellant came down to Florida and was staying at his sister Tammy's house. (Vol. IV, T 383, 385) Kevin had discussed appellant with Wilma so she knew about him. (Vol. IV, T 384) A couple of months before Wilma's death, Kevin had moved out of the house that he rented from her. (Vol. IV, T 384) Kevin first learned of Wilma's death on a Sunday and spoke to the police several times about it. (Vol. IV, T 386) Kevin testified that he did not have much contact with appellant and last spoke to him about three weeks before Wilma's death. (Vol. IV, T 391, 385) Kevin never spoke to appellant about Wilma or her jewelry. (Vol. IV, T 391) Kevin did not know appellant to be much

of a drinker or to have used cocaine. (Vol. IV, T 391, 393)

Roxanne Jeffries, appellant's sister, lived in Orlando with her boyfriend Dennis Thomas in 1993. (Vol. IV, T 395) She had met Wilma Martin a couple of times and knew that she was her brother Kevin's landlord. (Vol. IV, T 396) In August of 1993, appellant came down to Florida and was staying with his sister Tammy. (Vol. IV, T 397) Appellant met Dennis' brother Harry Thomas through Roxanne. (Vol. IV, T 398) Sometime in August, 1993, Roxanne heard a conversation between appellant and Harry in which appellant said that if he had to kill someone to get money he would. (Vol. IV, T 399) Appellant suggested to Harry that they go out and rob someone and possibly kill them although no person was mentioned as a possible target. (Vol. IV, T 399) At approximately 8:30 p.m., appellant and Harry left Roxanne's house and said they were going to Disney World. (Vol. IV, T 400) A few days later, appellant had four rings that he did not have before and also had some money. (Vol. IV, T 400) Appellant told his fiancee that he had a wedding ring and an engagement ring for her and said something about the rings making her rich. (Vol. IV, T 401) Appellant never said where he got the rings and Roxanne never saw them again. (Vol. IV, T 401) On the day of the conversation between appellant and Harry Thomas, appellant was drinking quite a bit. (Vol. IV, T 403-404) Harry had also been drinking that day

but was not as drunk as appellant. (Vol. IV, T 407) Although Roxanne believed that appellant had used cocaine a couple of times she never saw him use cocaine and did not see him use it that day. (Vol. IV, T 407-408, 410) When appellant mentioned killing someone, Roxanne told him "you shouldn't say that," but admitted that she never called the police. (Vol. IV, T 405)

Dennis Thomas, Roxanne Jeffries' live-in boyfriend, and brother of Harry Thomas, testified that he had met Wilma Martin a couple of times. (Vol. IV, T 411-412) Thomas overheard a conversation between Harry and appellant concerning Wilma Martin. (Vol. IV, T 412) Appellant mentioned that Wilma collected rent money but appellant made no mention of any jewelry. (Vol. IV, T 413) Appellant said something about going to Wilma to rent a place for him and his fiancee and then made a comment that Wilma would be a good person to rob. (Vol. IV, T 414) Thomas never heard any comments about any jewelry and does not remember who said what that day. (Vol. IV, T 414-415) Thomas testified that only people who knew Wilma knew about her rent collection but admitted that he did not know what appellant knew about Wilma. (Vol. IV, T 415) Thomas heard no one talk about killing anyone that day. (Vol. IV, T 415) Although in a previous statement to police, Thomas said that appellant made statements about robbing Wilma, no one talked about killing her. (Vol. IV, T 418) Dennis Thomas

testified that appellant had been drinking on the day of this conversation. (Vol. IV, T 419)

Tammy Todd, appellant's sister, testified that in August, 1993, appellant came to Florida and stayed with her in Winter Garden. (Vol. V, T 498) Tammy learned that Wilma Martin had been killed and had a conversation with appellant about Wilma's death. (Vol. V, T 499, 504) Tammy saw appellant with some rings that he had not had before. (Vol. V, T 499) Tammy identified the rings at trial as the ones that she saw appellant with. (Vol. V, T 501) Tammy stated that her sister Roxanne's reputation for truthfulness is not good and that she is always lying to the family. (Vol. V, T 504-505)

Sgt. William Mulloy of the Orlando Police Department assisted in the investigation of Wilma Martin's murder. (Vol. IV, T 429) Mulloy identified items which were recovered from a pawn shop in Bunnell, Florida. (Vol. IV, T 430) By stipulation, the items recovered from the pawn shop in Bunnell had been pawned by appellant on August 21, 1993. (Vol. IV, T 431) Crime scene technician Ron Rogers of the Orlando Police Department processed the scene of the homicide for fingerprints. (Vol. IV, T 437) On August 22, 1993, 21 latent prints were lifted from Wilma Martin's vehicle, 5 latent prints were lifted from the laundry room, 3 latent prints were lifted from the northeast bedroom, 5 latent

prints were lifted from lamps in the living room, and one latent print was lifted from the hallway bathroom sink. (Vol. IV, T 437) On August 23, 1993, 18 latent prints were lifted from the refrigerator, 2 latent prints were lifted from the walls and cabinets in the kitchen, 5 latent prints were lifted from the kitchen clock and one latent print was lifted from plastic cup in the kitchen. (Vol. IV, T 437)

Jesse Giles, a forensic pathologist, conducted an autopsy on the body of Wilma Martin. (Vol. IV, T 439-442) The victim had multiple blunt force injuries and some sharp force injuries. (Vol. IV, T 447) Martin had a stab wound to the right side of her neck which caused no real damage. (Vol. IV, T 449) Martin had defensive injuries to her arms and hands. (Vol. IV, T 456) The cause of death was multiple blunt force and sharp force injuries. None of the sharp force injuries however would have caused death independently of the blunt force trauma. (Vol. IV, T 458) Some hairs were found on Martin's hands but they appeared to be her own. (Vol. IV, T 459)

Terrell Kingery, a senior crime lab analyst with the Orlando Regional Crime Lab was given some evidence for comparison purposes. (Vol. V, T 509-511)

Kingery was given two pairs of shoes which he was asked to compare to a shoe print that had been lifted from a piece of tile in the victim's home. (Vol. V, T 511-512) There had been numerous foot wear impressions submitted to Kingery for

possible analysis. (Vol. V, T 514) Although the shoes that were seized from appellant were the same size and tread design as the shoe impression at the scene, Kingery cannot say that those shoes definitely made the impression found at the scene. (Vol. V, T 518, 515) Three pairs of shoes had been submitted to Kingery for comparison purposes, a pair of Nike air force magnums reportedly belonging to appellant, a pair of XJ-100 white tennis shoes reportedly belonging to Harry Thomas and a pair of men's Jordache sneakers belonging to an unknown person. (Vol. V, T 522) One of the impressions found at the scene did not match any of the shoes Kingery was given. (Vol. V, T 523) One of the impressions was consistent with the XJ-100 shoes belonging to Harry Thomas. (Vol. V, T 524) However, Kingery was unable to make any positive identification. (Vol. V, T 524)

Gary McCullough, the crime scene analyst and latent print examiner with FDLE, examined doors from kitchen cabinets taken from the victim's kitchen to see if there were any usable prints. (Vol. V, T 527-28) There was some red substance on the door which McCullough could not determine if it was human blood or not. (Vol. V, T 529) McCullough could see some prints on the door with his naked eye. (Vol. V, T 530) McCullough was given a set of known prints from appellant and from Harry Thomas. (Vol. V, T 530) A single fingerprint on one of

the cabinet doors was identified as matching appellant's fingerprint. (Vol. V, T 532) Although McCullough is aware that certain jurisdictions require a set number of points of similarity before a match of fingerprints can be made, Florida does not require this and he did not document how many points of similarity he found. (Vol. V, T 535-536) In fact, McCullough could not remember how many points of similarity he found. (Vol. V, T 535)

Captain Mark Long of the Richmond Hill, Georgia, police department testified that on September 10, 1993 at 12:14 a.m., he stopped a car in which appellant and Harry Thomas were riding. (Vol. V, T 476-477) Long followed the car driven by Thomas, to a gas station and confirmed that the car was wanted in connection with an armed robbery out of Marion County, Florida. (Vol. V, T 479-480) Long identified appellant as being a passenger in the vehicle and ordered him to place his hands on the windshield. (Vol. V, T 481) Appellant was placed under arrest and handcuffed but kept telling Long that he wasn't involved. (Vol. V, T 481) Long took both appellant and Thomas to the police station and verified that a warrant had been issued for the arrest of Harry Thomas out of Marion County. (Vol. V, T 481-483) There was no mention of Sonny Jeffries being wanted for any offense in Florida. (Vol. V, T 483) Appellant kept telling the officers that he had nothing to do with the robbery in Marion County but appellant offered no resistence. (Vol. V, T 484) Harry Thomas had an injury on his leg, a six inch cut, which required treatment at a hospital. (Vol. V, T 484-485) Deputy Sheriff William Bashlor of the Bryan County Sheriff's Department in Georgia testified that he took shoes from appellant in the holding cell, which shoes were entered into evidence at trial over defense objection. (Vol. V, T 486-487, 496)

The state and the defense stipulated that the rings that were entered into evidence belonged to Wilma Martin. (Vol. V, T 525-526)

#### PENALTY PHASE EVIDENCE

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