IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SONNY RAY JEFFRIES

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC94994

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____ /

ON APPEAL FROM THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH
ATTORNEY GENERAL

JUDY TAYLOR RUSH
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #438847
444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
(904) 238-4990
Fax # (904) 226-0457
COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF FONT

This brief is typed in Courier New 12 point.

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

"If the prosecution can establish by a preponderance of the evidence that the information ultimately or inevitably would have been discovered . . . then the evidence should be received." *Nix v. Williams*, 467 U.S. 431, 444 (1984). To apply the inevitable discovery doctrine, "there does not have to be an absolute certainty of discovery, but rather, just a reasonable probability." *State v. Ruiz*, 502 So. 2d 87, 87 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987).

In *Craig v. State*, 510 So. 2d 857 (Fla. 1987), *cert. denied*, 484 U.S. 1020 (1988), this Court considered a similar issue grounded on the inevitable discovery doctrine. In *Craig*, the State conceded that the interrogation of the defendant which led to location of the bodies "was illegal for failure to observe constitutional requirements." 510 So. 2d at 862. The evidence at the suppression hearing showed that "if appellant had not led

police to the bodies, they would ultimately have been located very soon thereafter by means of ordinary and routine investigative procedures." *Id.* This evidence was in the form of testimony from the investigating officers

that the surrounding areas of all sinkholes in the region would have been closely examined as a matter of routine. Also, co-defendant Schmidt had . . . inform[ed] the police that the bodies had been disposed of in deep water. This routine examination of sinkholes would have revealed the drag marks, debris, clothing fibers, and other indicators that were present at Wall Sink where the bodies were found. Wall Sink was the largest and deepest sink in the general area. These indicators, . . . would inevitably have caused police to concentrate their deep-water searching capabilities at Wall Sink.

Id. at 862-63. Since the evidence "would have been found . . . by means of normal investigative measures that inevitably would have been set in motion as a matter of routine police procedure," the suppression motion was properly denied. *Id.* at 863.

Later, in *Maulden v. State*, 617 So. 2d 298 (Fla. 1993), this Court again rejected a claim of error in denying suppression of evidence based on the inevitable discovery rule. In *Maulden*, "[t]he evidence found in the truck was . . . admissible even if Maulden's . . . arrest was illegal" because it "would ultimately have been discovered by legal means." 617 So. 2d at 301. The evidence showed that:

[T]he Las Vegas police located the truck and confirmed that it was stolen before they began the search for Maulden, and therefore well

before they arrested and questioned him. Thus, . . . Maulden's arrest had nothing to do with the discovery of the truck. Because the gun and other evidence were on the front seat of the truck, there can be no doubt that the items would have been discovered and properly seized.

Id. This Court upheld the admissibility of the evidence based on the inevitable discovery exception to the exclusionary rule. *Id.*

In the instant case, the State agreed that Jeffries had been arrested and held in jail unlawfully. (SR 64). However, the State contended "that the shoes would inevitably have been found any way" and would have been admitted into evidence. (SR 64).

Orlando Police Department Homicide Detective Barbara Bergin testified at the suppression hearing. (SR 66). She was the lead investigator in the murder of Jeffries' victim, Wilma Martin. (SR 66). In connection with that investigation, she prepared an affidavit for arrest warrant to be executed on Jeffries. (SR 66).

Detective Bergin had planned to obtain an arrest warrant for Jeffries prior to learning that he had been detained in Georgia. (SR 66). The warrant would be based on information from persons to whom Jeffries had made statements of "very specific knowledge that the only people involved in the murder would have" (SR 67). The detective arrived back in Orlando about midnight and planned to obtain the arrest warrant the next day. (SR 67-68). At 1:30 AM, she received a phone call indicating that "a subject matching Sonny Jeffries" had been detained in Georgia with Harry Thomas who was wanted on a Florida arrest warrant for a separate robbery and a

be-on-the-look-out had been posted for Thomas "from Florida to New Jersey." (SR 67, 68).

Detective Bergin had learned that Jeffries had abandoned his fiancée in Daytona "the same weekend the homicide occurred," and "he had left quiet (sic) of (sic) bit of his clothing with his fiancée." (SR 72). She "would have asked for any and all clothing that was in his possession at the time believing I could have had other evidence there." (SR 72).

Also well prior to Jeffries' detention in Georgia, Detective Bergin had been told that Jeffries' fiancée, Donna Moodhard, had given a sworn statement that Jeffries had directed her to wash his clothing, specifically including his black Nike tennis shoes. (SR 76-77). Further, Jeffries "became upset when she didn't wash the shoes he asked her to wash." (SR 77). The detective received notice of this statement on September 1, 1993.¹⁰ (SR 77).

Detective Bergin flew to New Jersey and interviewed Ms. Moodhard and Jeffries' sister, Ms. Faisst, who had approached New Jersey law enforcement authorities, stating "they possibly had information regarding the homicide of Wilma I. Martin." (R 749). On August 21, 1993, Ms. Moodhard had flown to Florida to meet with Jeffries, and she found him in Ocala at the home of Harry Thomas.

¹⁰ The victim was murdered "between eight twenty to eight twenty-one" of 1993. (SR 71). Jeffries was detained in Georgia on September 10, 1993. (SR 71).

(R 749). "He had spent the money she had sent to rent a home." (R 749).

On August 24, 1993, she and Jeffries went to Daytona Beach "to look for work and a place to live." (R 749). They checked in to a hotel and "got into an argument." (R 749). "During the argument, Sonny Jeffries demanded a diamond ring back which he had given to her upon her arrival in Florida." (R 749). Ms. Moodhard "questioned him about the ring and where it came from." (R 749). Jeffries told her:

'Ok, you fat assing bitch, if you want to know, if you want to take those diamonds and put 'em in a wedding band of your choosing and not let the jeweler do it that I had planned out, then you're going to get your fat ass picked up because they're as hot as hell. Harry and I just took them the other night. We just got them the other night. Harry and I took them or stole them the other night. If you try to use any, they are going to pick your ass up.'

(R 749). Ms. Moodhard "passed out and when she woke . . . , Jeffries was gone and the ring he had given her was removed from her hand." (R 749).

Jeffries' sister, Ms. Faisst, was also interviewed by Detective Bergin. (R 749). She said that Jeffries' other sister, Roxanne Jeffries, phoned her and asked if Ms. Moodhard had left for Florida. (R 749). Ms. Faisst "asked where Sonny was?" (R 749). "Roxanne said that Sonny and Harry Thomas were out doing robberies near Disney World because Sonny had spent all of Donna's money she had sent for a house to rent." (R 749).

On September 8, 1993, Detective Bergin spoke with "the

step-daughter of Harry Thomas," Lena Colin. (R 751). Ms. Colin reported that "two to three weeks ago" she accompanied Harry Thomas and Jeffries "to three pawn shops." (R 751). At the Bargain Box, Thomas and Jeffries gave her two rings which she pawned for \$35. (R 751). At Frontier Pawn, Mr. Thomas went in "with two rings but was unable to pawn them." (R 751). At Ocala Drive-In Pawn and Gun Shop, she was given four rings "which she pawned for \$25.00 and turned the money over to Harry Thomas and Sonny Jeffries." (R 751).

The following day, law enforcement officers went to the pawn shops identified by Ms. Colin. They found jewelry which had been pawned as described by Ms. Colin and which belonged to Ms. Martin. (R 751, 752).

Ms. Colin also gave "a taped statement" to officers on September 9, 1993. (R 752). Therein, she said that

Harry Thomas told her Sonny Jeffries asked Harry to drive him to a lady's house to get stuff that she had. Harry agreed Sonny Jeffries said the lady was talking about the Jeffries and Thomases being trash. He wanted to gut her and kill her. . . . Harry drove Sonny to the residence. When they pulled up, the spotlight came on and when Sonny walked up it went off. The victim, Wilma I. Martin, opened the door and he went in. A short time later, Sonny came out with blood on his foot and leg. Harry asked Sonny what he was doing and Sonny then returned to the house and came back with a bag of stuff and eating the lady's "Chicken McNuggets." . . . Sonny said that he killed her, kicked her in the head and face, and kicked her face off. . . . Harry described the bag Sonny Jeffries used to carry the things out of the house as a pink pillow case which was found to be missing from

the victim's bedroom.

(R 752).

Prior to learning of Jeffries' detention, Detective Bergin intended to secure the arrest warrant and to place it in the NCIC computer system. (SR 68). She had received information from Jeffries' relatives and his fiancée, who were cooperating with the authorities, indicating that Jeffries would return to his home town in New Jersey. (SR 69). The detective planned to advise the agencies along the route from Florida to New Jersey that Jeffries and Thomas were likely to be traveling in their area. (SR 69). Had Jeffries been arrested in New Jersey on the anticipated warrant, Detective Bergin would have "requested and obtained his shoes."¹¹ (SR 70). Indeed, she "would have asked for any and all clothing that was in his possession at the time believing I could have had other evidence there." (SR 72).

The New Jersey authorities knew Jeffries from prior contacts with him. (SR 70). They also knew "his family and his hangouts." (SR 70). Jeffries was detained in Richmond Hill, Georgia, a small town off of I-95 on the route to New Jersey. (SR 78).

¹¹ Had he been arrested in New Jersey, the detective would have obtained the shoes by complying with the local requirements. Some "jurisdictions requires (sic) to write a search warrant in order to acquire their clothes. Others, as in our jurisdiction, once they're arrested they're property with them would become available to us. . . . [I]f I would have had to I would have requested a search warrant or . . . whatever their jurisdiction required, in order to obtain them." (SR 70-71).

Detective Bergin obtained an arrest warrant for Jeffries on September 10, 1993 at 1:30 PM. (SR 73). The detective had spent the morning faxing "photos back and fourth, fingerprints, attempting to identify the person [detained in Georgia] as Sonny Jeffries since a different name had been given by him." (SR 73).

The evidence presented at the suppression hearing, which included the arrest warrant affidavit, well exceeds the "reasonable probability" standard and establishes that the shoes would have inevitably been discovered. Detective Bergin had all of the information on which the subsequently issued arrest warrant was based prior to Jeffries' illegal detention in Georgia. She would have obtained the warrant sooner except that it was so late by the time she returned to Orlando, and the next morning she was consumed with trying to identify the person Georgia was holding with Mr. Thomas.¹² Thus, it is clear that the arrest warrant would have been issued based on the information known to the Florida authorities prior to the Georgia detention.

It is also clear that the Florida authorities would have obtained the clothing, including the shoes, incident to the arrest on the Florida warrant. Moreover, had any further steps been necessary to secure the clothing, such as a search warrant, the Florida authorities would have obtained it. Thus, it is clear that

¹² This extended identification process was necessary because Jeffries had given a false identity.

the shoes would have been turned over to the Florida authorities and their evidentiary value determined. Of course, once it was determined that the shoes had evidentiary value in the instant case, they would have been (and were) introduced into evidence at trial.

At the very least, the shoes would have been seized upon Jeffries' return to Florida. The Georgia officials held Jeffries illegally and that hold had nothing to do with the Florida murder. Jeffries was still being held illegally in Georgia at the time the Florida warrant for his arrest was issued. At that point, Jeffries would have been (and was) transported to Florida on the warrant. As Detective Bergin testified, in our jurisdiction, his clothing would have been seized and made available to the authorities. Since he was wearing the shoes when detained in Georgia, they would have accompanied him to Florida where they would have been seized and tested as was done in the instant case. Thus, the shoes would have inevitably been seized from Jeffries by the Florida authorities and tested as they were for evidence in connection with Ms. Martin's murder. The suppression motion was properly denied based on the inevitable discovery doctrine. *See Hall v. State*, 733 So. 2d 565, 566 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999)[ring seized during illegal interrogation admissible where would have been removed during routine booking procedures].

Finally, even had Georgia released Jeffries, the evidence

adduced at the suppression hearing shows that he would have been arrested upon his arrival in New Jersey. Since the only shoes he had in his possession were the ones he was wearing, and since he had not disposed of them in the three weeks since the murder, it is reasonably probable that he would have still been wearing them when he reached New Jersey. The New Jersey authorities, as well as Jeffries' relatives and fiancée, were all cooperating with the Florida authorities in regard to the Martin murder investigation and Jeffries' participation therein in particular. Thus, as the trial judge reasoned, even had he been let go from Richmond Hill, he would have gone to New Jersey where he would have been arrested and his shoes seized and delivered to the Florida authorities.

Assuming *arguendo* that it was error for the trial judge to admit the shoes under the inevitable discovery doctrine, that error was harmless. The evidence at trial showed that Jeffries conceived and presented to Harry Thomas his plan to rob Ms. Martin. He also contemplated the possibility of killing her in order to get what he wanted and made it clear that he was willing and able to kill his intended victim. His fingerprint was found on the bloody door of Ms. Martin's kitchen cabinets at the exact place where she was so brutally killed. Immediately after Ms. Martin's murder, he possessed her valuables, including her diamond engagement ring, wedding band, and mother's ring. Within a day of her murder, he pawned these items for rediculously low sums. He left Florida

immediately thereafter. Also, at the *Spencer* hearing, Jeffries confessed that he killed Ms. Martin in her kitchen by beating her to death. Due to the overwhelming evidence of his guilt, any error in connection with the admission of the shoe and the shoe print testing based thereon was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Jeffries is entitled to no relief.

POINT II

**THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING
APPELLANT'S CHALLENGE TO THE STATE'S USE OF A
PEREMPTORY TO EXCUSE AN AFRICAN AMERICAN
PROSPECTIVE JUROR.**

Jeffries complains that the State improperly used a peremptory challenge to exclude an African American, Margie Melvin, from the jury venire. (IB 29). When asked to explain his reason for striking Ms. Melvin, the prosecutor indicated that her "answers to Questions 19, 20 and 21 are equivocal on the death penalty." (R 332). Jeffries claims that since the State agreed with the defense attorney prior to the commencement of the questioning of the individual potential jurors that Ms. Melvin was not one who it was initially felt should be individually questioned, the State "had no problems with juror Melvin's answers to the questions" (IB 33). This claim is clearly not preserved for presentation to this Court on appeal because it was not raised in the trial court.

In *Fernandez v. State*, 730 So. 2d 277 (Fla. 1999), this Court held a claim that prospective jurors who were allegedly rehabilitated by Defense Counsel should not have been excused procedurally barred because "defense counsel did not specifically object on these grounds" Neither did Defense Counsel in the instant case ever contend below that the State could not peremptorily strike Ms. Melvin because it did not object to the defense contention that individual questioning of her was not necessary. Thus, this part of Jeffries instant claim is

procedurally barred.¹³

Jeffries further claims that "a simple check of the answers that the jurors who sat on appellant's case gave to the same questions clearly highlights the pretextual nature" (IB 34). He then points to three instances which he claims prove his point, as follows:

(1) Juror Meldrum - did not answer question 21;

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